

LUND UNIVERSITY

Identification, Validation and Implementation of Blastemal Biomarkers in Wilms Tumour

Sehic, Daniel

2014

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Sehic, D. (2014). Identification, Validation and Implementation of Blastemal Biomarkers in Wilms Tumour. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Division of Clinical Genetics]. Division of Clinical Genetics, Lund University.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply: Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Identification, Validation and Implementation of Blastemal Biomarkers in Wilms Tumour

Daniel Sehic



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended on November 28th, 2014 at 13:00 in Segerfalksalen, Biomedical Center, Sölvegatan 17, Lund, Sweden.

> *Faculty opponent* Neil Sebire Professor of Paediatric and Developmental Pathology Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children NHS Trust London, United Kingdom

Organization	Document name		
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION		
Department of Clinical Genetics	Date of issue		
BMC C13, Klinikgatan 28	28 th November, 2014		
SE-221 84 Lund			
Sweden			
Author(s)	Sponsoring organization		
Daniel Schic			
Title and subtitle			
Identification, validation and implementation of blastemal biomarkers in Wilms tumour			
Abstract			
The aim of this thesis has been to establish biomarkers for the blastemal element in Wilms tumour (WT) – the most			
common paediatric kidney cancer. Blastema is, together wi	th epithelium and stroma,	one of the three common	
histological elements of WT. WTs dominated by blastema af	ter preoperative chemothera	py are classified as high risk	
tumours.			
According to the SIOP2001 protocol used in most European	countries today, there is no	o recommendation of using	
molecular markers for WT risk stratification and this assess	ment is based on clinico-his	tological parameters alone.	
Patients with high risk tumours receive an extensive treatment	t, which may results in sever	e long term side effects. To	
secure an accurate estimation of the amount of blastemal e	lements a marker for detect	tion of WT blastemal cells	
could be a useful tool, indirectly leading to a more precise risk	estimation.		
Literature studies and gene expression data were used to ide	ntify potential markers for	WT blastema. The protein	
expressions for candidate markers were evaluated by immuno	ofluorescence on WT cell li	nes and paraffin-embedded	
WT tissue sections. Tissue microarrays were constructed to	improve the efficiency of	this process and the most	
prominent marker was also validated by immunohistochemica	al protein staining, to prepar	e it for clinical use.	
The two proteins found to have the most specific expression	on in blastemal cells were S	SIX1 and CITED1. These	
proteins are transcription factors expressed during kidney dev	elopment and both were sh	own to be highly expressed	
in the blastemal element of WT (89% and 100%, of WT	cases, respectively). SIX1 at	nd CITED1 also displayed	
some expression in the epithelial (25% and 64%, respectivel	y) and stromal (52% and 4	8%, respectively) elements.	
Since particularly CITED1 was highly expressed in epitheli	ial components, SIX1 was s	selected for further clinical	
evaluation.			
In summary, SIX1 appeared to be a useful marker for definit	ng blastemal elements in W	T. SIX1 does not replace a	
pathologist's evaluation and should only be used as a tool to help give a more accurate estimation of the extent of the			
blastemal elements in WT.			
77 1			
Key words Wiless Turnson Nachard Listense SIX1 Plasteres Liste			
withs Tumour, Nephroblastoma, SIXT, Blastema, biom	arker, Immunochemisty, Im	imunonistocnemestry	
Classification system and/of index terms (if any)			
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language	
		English	
ISSN and hav title		ISBN	
1652 8220		13DIN 078 01 7610 051 7	
Desiniant's notes	Number of pages	9/8-91-/019-031-/	
Recipient's notes	104	rnce	
	104 Security also 10		
	Security classification		
I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all			
reference sourcespermission to publish and disseminate the ab	stract of the above-mention	ed dissertation.	

Signature Devel Schere Date 2014-10-22

Identification, Validation and Implementation of Blastemal Biomarkers in Wilms Tumour

Daniel Sehic



Department of Clinical Genetics Faculty of Medicine

Lund University 2014

Copyright © Daniel Sehic

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2014:122 ISBN 978-91-7619-051-7 ISSN 1652-8220-

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck Lund 2014



"Things that are important varies highly, until you have children."

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ORIGINAL ARTICLES	9
ABBREVIATIONS 1	1
PREFACE 1	13
INTRODUCTION 1	15
History1	15
Background	16
Syndromes associated with Wilms tumour1	17
Kidney embryogenesis and Wilms tumour origin 1	19
Histopathology and risk classification	20
Staging, treatment and late effects	22
Acquired genetic anomalies in Wilms tumour	23
Current focus in Wilms tumour research	24
THE PRESENT STUDY 2	27
Aims	27
Materials and Methods2	27
Gene Expression Microarray Data	28
Cell Lines and Tissue Sections	28
Tissue Microarray	28
Detection of Protein Expression	29
<i>In situ</i> protein detection	29
Immunofluorescence protein staining 2	29
Immunohistochemical (chromogenic) protein staining	30
Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting	30
Xenograft tumour models	31
Results	31
Discussion	33
Summary of results	33
Difficulties in strategies and methods	33
Origin of Wilms tumour and principal problems in biomarker studies 3	35

More or less aggressive blastemal elements	35
Present candidate biomarkers in Wilms tumour	36
The future of biomarkers and treatment targets in Wilms tumour	38
Conclusion	39
SVENSK SAMMANFATTNING	41
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	43
REFERECES	45
ARTICLES I-IV	59

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

This thesis is based on the following articles, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. Sehic D, Karlsson J, Sandstedt B, Gisselsson D. SIX1 protein expression selectively identifies blastemal elements in Wilms tumor. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* 2012;59:62-68.
- II. Sehic D, Ciornei C, Gisselsson D. Evaluation of CITED1, SIX1, and CD56 Protein Expression for Identification of Blastemal Elements in Wilms Tumor. *Am J Clin Path* 2014;141:828-833.
- III. Sehic D, Albayati A, Sandstedt B, Gisselsson D. A dual colour immunohistochemical staining for differentiating epithelial and blastemal elements in Wilms tumour. Manuscript.
- IV. Holmquist Mengelbier L, Bexell D, Sehic D, Ciornei C, Gisselsson D. Orthotopic Wilms tumor xenografts derived from cell lines reflect limited aspects of tumor morphology and clinical characteristics. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* 2014 Nov;61(11).

ABBREVIATIONS

ADCA	Renal cell carcinoma (Renal adenocarcinoma)
AMER1	APC membrane recruitment protein 1
AP	Alkaline phosphatase
B7-H1	B7 homolog 1
BWS	Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome
CCSK	Clear cell sarcoma of the kidney
CD56	CD56 molecule (NCAM)
CITED1	CREB-binding protein/p300-interacting transactivator with
	Asparagine/Glutamic acid-rich carboxyl-terminal domain
CMN	Congenital mesoblastic nephroma
CREB	cAMP respone element-binding protein
CTNNB1	Catenin (cadherin-associated protein), beta 1
Cy3	Cyanine 3
DAB	3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DDS	Denys-Drash syndrome
EYA1	EYA transcriptional coactivator and phosphatase 1
FACS	Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
H19	Imprinted maternally expressed transcript (non-protein
	coding)
HIER	Heat induced epitope retrieval
HPR	Horse radish peroxidase
IF	Immunofluorescence
IGF2	Insulin-like growth factor 2
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IHC	Immunohistochemical chromogenic
IRX3	Iroquois-class homeodomain protein IRX-3

LIN-28 homolog
Messenger ribonucleic acid
National Wilms Tumor Study
Paired box 6
Perlman syndrome
Renal rhabdoid tumour
Permanent red substrate-chromogen
International Society of Paediatric Oncology
Sine oculis homeobox homolog 1
Sine oculis homeobox homolog 2
Transforming growth factor, beta
Tissue microarray
Tumour protein p53
United Kingdom Children's Cancer Study Group
Wilms tumour-Aniridia-Genitourinary anomalies-mental
Retardation syndrome
Wilms tumor 1
Wilms tumour

PREFACE

Wilms tumour (WT) or nephroblastoma is a kidney tumour that generally affects young children with their whole life ahead of them. Improved treatment protocols including combinations of chemotherapy have fortunately led to great advancements during the 20th century, which have resulted in a survival rate close to 90%. The treatment for each WT patient is determined based on the histological subtype of the tumour and the tumour stage, which describes the extent to which the disease has spread. Treatment protocols are different for the various WT subtypes and an accurate classification is, for this reason, important. One histological WT subtype classified as high-risk according to current European protocols is the blastemal predominant type. These tumours consist of at least 2/3immature, so-called blastemal cells that share many features with the progenitor cells present in the embryonic kidney. Since this WT group is classified as a high-risk tumour they also receive one of the toughest treatments. Such treatment often produces many long-term side effects, so called late effects, which may affect these young patients for the rest of their lives. A biomarker for objective recognition of blastemal cells in WT could be helpful in clinical risk stratification. Such biomarker could not only secure a more accurate estimation of the blastemal component but also ensure a more uniform estimation among pathologists. This, in turn, could lead to a more correct evaluation of the tumour composition, thereby giving each patient a greater chance to receive optimal treatment. The aim of this thesis has been to discover molecular markers suitable for defining blastemal cells in WT, validate them and prepare them for clinical use.

Lund, October 2014

INTRODUCTION

History

Wilms tumour (WT), also called nephroblastoma, was first characterized by Dr Carl Max Wilhelm Wilms (1867-1918) in 1899. His diagnosis of WT was based on clinical and histological appearance, the latter typically being a triphasic renal tumour consisting of blastemal, epithelial and stromal elements.¹

In the early part of the 20th century, WT patients had a survival rate of less than 20%. The only treatment at this time was surgery.² Surgical procedures were gradually improved and when combined with radiotherapy, survival rates increased to about 47% during the 1940s.³ By the 1960s, chemotherapy (actinomycin D and vincristine) had been introduced, raising the survival rates further.^{4,5} However, survival was still different depending on the stage of the WT and chemotherapy treatment dosage. This called for controlled clinical trials to improve treatment.⁶⁻⁸

During the 1970s the survival rate for WT patients increased to around 60% and in the 1990s the survival rate rose to exceed 80% in most developed countries. The primary reason for this dramatic improvement in outcome was the increase of multi-institutional trials such as the National Wilms Tumor Study (NWTS), the International Society of Paediatric Oncology (SIOP) trials, and their treatment protocols.^{2,9} These protocols refined the role of surgery, chemotherapy and radiation when treating WT. The tumours were divided into favourable and unfavourable types according to stage and histology. The vast majority of WT patients received surgery. Patients with the most favourable type of tumours, such as non-anaplastic WT with stage I-II, were treated with conventional dactinomycin and

vincristine chemotherapy while unfavourable WT with stage III-IV and anaplastic type received triple-agent chemotherapy (dactinomycin, doxorubicin and vincristine) and radiotherapy. Recurrent WT, which had and still has a poor prognosis, was treated with more aggressive surgery, radiotherapy and chemotherapy.²

Today, more than a hundred years after Dr. Wilms first described WT, the survival rate has reached about 90%. The histological tumour appearance is still an important feature used to diagnose WTs, classify them into different subtypes and thereby divide the tumours into risk groups that define the treatment received.^{10,11}

Background

WT is the most common kidney tumour in childhood. It represents about 85% of all paediatric renal tumours and 7% of all paediatric neoplasms. Most WTs are unilateral and only 5% display bilateral lesions.¹² In Sweden about 10-15 children are affected by WT each year. This corresponds to around 1 in 10 000 born children.¹³ The overall survival rate for children with WT in developed countries is high, but still at least 10% succumb to their disease.^{10,11} In developing countries the survival rate can be much lower than 50%; one of the major reasons for this is limited resources.^{14,15} The majority of the affected children are younger than 9 years, with a median age of 3-5 years.¹² Adult WTs exist, but are rare. Only 3% of the WT patients are over 16 years of age.¹⁶ Adult WTs as a group differ in various ways from their paediatric counterparts. For example, these often have more advanced disease and may show more complex acquired genetic aberrations.¹⁷ However, most of the teenagers with WT have similar outcome compared to paediatric patients.¹⁶

A minority of children that present with kidney tumours does not have WT. Differential diagnoses in these patients include both benign and malignant entities. The most important of these entities follow below.

Clear cell sarcoma of the kidney (CCSK) is a malignant tumour,¹² making up 4% of all paediatric renal neoplasms.¹⁸ It was earlier classified as a WT subtype,¹⁹ but differ from these tumours histologically by not displaying associations with genitourinary abnormalities, hemihypertrophy, sporadic aniridia or renal differentiation anomalies.¹⁸ The median age of CCSKpatients is the same as for WT, 3-5 years.²⁰ CCSK can by its morphology most times be distinguished from WT, but differentiation can be difficult if the WT contains large amount of stromal element.¹²

Renal rhabdoid tumour (RAT) was also first described as a variant of WT.¹⁹ It is the most malignant kidney tumour and represents about 1-2% of the paediatric renal tumours. Most affected patients are in their first year of life.²¹

Congenital mesoblastic nephroma (CMN) is the most common renal neoplasm in patients between 3-6 months of age.²¹ CMN was earlier classified together with WT but is now considered to be separate from it.²² CMNs are benign tumours with a survival rate of over 98%. They account for about 3% of paediatric renal tumours.²³

Renal cell carcinoma (also called renal adenocarcinoma; ADCA) makes up about 2-3% of all paediatric renal tumours. The incidence increases with age and is higher over the age of $5.^{24}$ Overall survival for renal cell carcinoma patients younger than 20 years is a little over 60%.²⁵

Other rare paediatric neoplasms found in the kidney are cystic nephroma, Ewing sarcoma of the kidney and rhabdomyosarcoma of the kidney. Cystic nephroma is a benign renal tumour, while the other two are highly malignant.²⁶⁻²⁹

Syndromes associated with Wilms tumour

Most WTs (90%) are sporadic, while around 10% of patients suffer from tumour-predisposing syndromes.¹²

One of these is the Wilms tumour - Aniridia - Genitourinary anomalies - mental Retardation syndrome (WAGR). WAGR is a genetic syndrome with a deletion or mutation in chromosome band 11p13.^{30,31} This region includes *PAX6* and *WT1*.³² Most patients display aniridia (absence of iris). Genitourinary anomalies are not always present and are more common in boys than girls. To get diagnosed with WAGR syndrome, aniridia together with at least another feature must be displayed. The risk of developing WT for these patients is about 50%.³³

Denys-Drash syndrome (DDS) is a rare disorder characterized by gonadal dysgenesis, nephropathy and WT.³⁴ These patients have a 55% risk of developing WT, 16% being bilateral.³⁵ More than 90% of these patients have an abnormality in the Wilms tumour suppressor gene (*WT1*).³⁴

Patients with Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome (BWS) are recognised at birth by macroglossia, omphalocele and macrosomia.³⁶ WT appears in around 10% of BWS cases.³⁴ This syndrome is associated with alterations in chromosome band 11p15.³⁷ Mainly patients with telomeric defects in this region develop WT. This telomere region contains *H19* and *IGF2*.^{38,39}

Perlman syndrome (PS) is an uncommon genetic disorder. These patients have up to 40% risk of developing WT. PS is an autosomal recessive overgrowth syndrome characterised by foetal gigantism, visceromegaly, characteristic face, Wilms tumour and bilateral nephroblastomatosis.³⁹

Other syndromes that have been associated with WT are; Simpson-Golabi-Behmel syndrome,³⁹ Sotos syndrome,³⁹ Frasier syndrome⁴⁰ and Bloom's syndrome.⁴¹ In some of these syndromes WT is very rare. WT have also been connected with hemihypertrophy,⁴² neurofibromatosis,⁴³ Fanconi anemia⁴² and isolated hemihyperplasia.³⁹

There is also a non-syndromic form of familial nephroblastoma. But this form is rare and represents only 1% of all WT cases.³⁴

Kidney embryogenesis and Wilms tumour origin

WT is believed to originate from nephrogenic rests, i.e. embryonic cells formed during kidney development that remain in an immature state in the human kidney after birth. Since WT histology shares features with the human embryonic kidney and its cell biology reflects aspects of normal kidney formation this hypothesis is highly probable. Only a minority of nephrogenic rests lead to formation of WT and only around 30% of WTs have been found to contain these rests.⁴⁴ Nephrogenic rests are located in either perilobar or intralobar locations. Perilobar rests are associated with overgrowth and overgrowth syndromes, while intralobar rests are associated with deletions and mutations in the *WT1* gene.⁴⁴ The presence of multiple neophrogenic rests beyond 36 weeks of gestation is called nephroblastomatosis. It can occur in one or both kidneys and be difficult to distinguish from WT. Nephroblastomatosis patients have a small increased risk of developing WT.²¹

Kidney formation starts with the intermediate mesoderm forming the Wolffian duct. The ureteric bud emerges from the Wolffian duct and invades the metanephric mesenchyme, also called the metanephric blastema. The ureteric bud then begins to branch, mesenchymal cells aggregate around the ureteric tips and stromal cells proliferate between these tips. The early aggregates of mesenchymal cells forming at the tips of the ureteric bud are referred to as condensing mesenchyme or cap mesenchyme. It consists of immature nephron precursor cells with an undifferentiated morphology and expresses embryonic transcription factors such as SIX1, SIX2 and CITED1.^{45,46} From these cells, pretubular aggregates are formed that undergo a mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition and transform into the epithelial renal vesicles, through comma shaped and s-shaped bodies which mature into tubular structures.⁴⁷ Foetal kidneys reach their fully developed adult form and position by the 10th-12th gestational week. After this age the kidneys only grow in size by continuous proliferation and maturation of the metanephric blastema adjacent to the renal cortex.⁴⁸ In normal post-natal kidney, all cells of the

metanephric blastema should either have undergone mesenchymal-toepithelial transformation or have matured into stromal or vascular cells of various types.

The epithelial component in WT is histologically very similar to foetal kidney epithelium. However, in WT it usually covers a less part of the total tumour tissue than it does in normal kidney tissue. The opposite may be said for the stromal element that, if present in WT it usually covers a great part of the tumour which is not true in normal kidney tissue.⁴⁹ The blastemal component of WT is similar to the metanephric mesenchyme in foetal kidney.⁵⁰ Its contribution to WT tissue volume differs extensively among patients. Epithelial and stromal cells are derived from the metanephric blastema in normal kidney development. In a similar way, the stromal and epithelial components in WT are thought to arise from the tumour blastema.⁵¹

Histopathology and risk classification

WT mainly consists of three different tissue elements: blastema, epithelium and stroma.⁵¹ The blastemal element consists of highly proliferating cells. Blastemal cells are usually densely aggregated with large nuclei and a high nuclear/cytoplasmic ratio. Epithelial elements are typically identified as forming irregular tubular structures in WT tissue. The stromal elements are usually populated sparsely with cells showing spindle cell morphology.¹² Some cases also show diffuse or focal anaplastic features. These anaplastic elements display irregular nuclei, highly variable cell size, and atypical mitoses.¹² Because many WTs are now treated by chemotherapy before histological assessment, it is also common to find areas of haemorrhage, fibrosis, and necrosis, commonly referred to as regressive changes.⁵²



Figure 1

An example of the three most common histological tissue elements in WT: blastema (b), epitelium (e) and stroma (s).

According to the SIOP2001 protocol used in most European countries today, WTs are classified into different subtypes based on the relative extent of these different tissue elements at histopathological examination of each tumour after chemotherapy. If a post-chemotherapy treated tumour consists of more than 2/3 viable blastemal, epithelial or stromal cells it is considered to be predominated by that certain cell component. If none of the tumour displays extensive multifocal anaplastic features it is considered to be diffuse anaplastic type. WTs that are more than 90% necrotic are considered to be of totally necrotic type, while those with more than 2/3, but less than 90%, necrosis/regression are classified as regressive type. In some rare WTs, different heterologous tissue types like muscle, rudimentary cartilage, bone, fat tissue^{53,54} or neural tissue⁵⁵ are observed,

but these have no impact on the overall classification. According to the SIOP treatment protocol, patients with blastemal and diffuse anaplastic tumour types have higher risk for recurrence and death than patients with other WT subtypes. Therefore these patients receive a more extensive treatment. The epithelial, stromal, mixed, regressive and focal anaplastic types are considered to be of intermediate risk. The totally necrotic type is the only WT that is considered as low risk. In summary, classification into risk groups is crucial for treatment and strongly based upon tumour histology. The risk groups are also directly connected to patient prognosis. It should be noted that blastemal type is only considered high risk in post-chemotherapy treated WT, for example in the SIOP protocol; in non-pre-chemotherapy treated WT it is considered as an intermediate risk group. According to the SIOP protocol no immunohistochemical markers are needed for the risk classification or diagnosis of WT.

Staging, treatment and late effects

The two most widely used WT treatment protocols are determined by SIOP and NWTS, respectively. The SIOP-protocol is used in Sweden, most of Europe and some countries outside the European continent, while NWTS is used mainly in North America. United Kingdom Children's Cancer Study Group (UKCCSG) provides another treatment protocol used in the United Kingdom. The main difference between the NWTS and SIOP protocols is that the surgical removal of the tumour takes place prior to chemotherapy in the NWTS protocol while after chemotherapy in the SIOP protocol.⁵ There is no difference in patient survival rate between these protocols.⁵⁶

According to the commonly used SIOP2001 protocol the spread or extent of WT disease is divided into 5 stages. In stage 1, the tumour is confined to the kidney and surrounded by the renal capsule. In stage 2, the renal capsule is penetrated and/or the renal hilus and/or sinus are invaded. Blood and lymphatic vessels may be invaded as well but are completely resected in stage 2. In stage 3, the tumour has spread to nearby lymph nodes and/or the adrenal gland. Tumours that rupture into the abdomen prior to or under surgery are also considered stage 3. In stage 4, distant metastases are present, most frequently to the lungs and sometimes the liver or lymph node metastasis outside the abdominal-pelvic region. All bilateral tumours are considered as stage 5.57

Late effects for treated WT patients are not unusual. More than half of WT survivors suffer from chronic health conditions and for a quarter of the survivors, these health conditions are severe. Some examples of chronic conditions are congestive heart failure, renal failure and hypertension. In particular, doxorubicin combined with radiotherapy increases congestive heart failure.⁵⁸ Radiotherapy and some chemotherapy agents increase the risk of developing secondary cancer,⁵⁹ especially at high doses of radiotherapy.^{60,61} Tissue growth in both bone and muscle within the radiation field are also disrupted resulting in poor development. Even though radiotherapy might cause infertility, chemotherapy treatment in future fertility of the patients.⁵⁹ general does not affect the Cyclophosphamide however, used in high-risk patients, may have a negative effect on sperm count.⁶² Hereditary factors in some syndromes also increase the risk of secondary cancer. Socioeconomic aspects of WT survivors in comparison to non-tumour patients seem not to be effected. socioeconomic of factors educational Some examples are accomplishment,⁶³ employment^{64,65} and mental health outcome.^{65,66}

Acquired genetic anomalies in Wilms tumour

The most common acquired genetic change in WT is alterations in chromosome arm 11p, especially affecting 11p13, location of *WT1*, and 11p15, location of *IGF2*.⁶⁷ Loss of heterozygosity in 11p has been shown to be higher in bilateral WT.³⁴ Even though the WT1 protein is expressed in almost all WTs,⁶⁸ only 10-15% displays *WT1* mutations.³⁴ Still the WT1 protein is a commonly used diagnostic marker for WT. WT1 regulates IGF2 expression by its promoters.³⁴ IGF2 is a foetal growth factor and

insulin receptor binding protein.⁶⁹ Mutations in *CTNNB1* have been found in about 15% of WTs. About 80% of WTs containing *WT1* mutations also have *CTNNB1* mutations. β -catenin (the protein product of *CTNNB1*) has been shown to be regulated by AMER1 (also known as WTX).⁷⁰ AMER1 is a tumour suppressor gene located in the X chromosome. It is expressed during embryonic development and inactivated in up to 20-30% of WTs.⁷¹

Anaplastic WTs often have a high expression (76%) of nuclear p53 and the *TP53* gene is mutated in most of these cases.^{72,73} 16q deletions have also been associated with blastemal and anaplastic subtypes. ^{34,74} Loss of heterozygosity of chromosome arms 1p and 16q, both common features of anaplastic WTs, have also been associated with unfavorable prognosis in low-risk tumours.^{75,76} In some studies 1p allelic loss, and more recently 1q gain have been shown to be markers for poorer prognosis.⁷⁷ Also, B7-H1 has been suggested as an unfavourable marker, if expressed in favourable histology WT.⁷⁸

Other chromosome areas often affected by somatic imbalances in WT are 7q, 7p, 11q, and chromosomes 12, 17 and 18.³⁴

Current focus in Wilms tumour research

Most patients presenting with WT today have a good prognosis. Still, about 10% succumb to their disease and naturally one important aim is to find strategies to cure patients with relentless disease.

Another goal is to minimize late effects for WT patients by optimizing treatment protocols. Any changes in treatment must first be investigated thoroughly according to standard guidelines for clinical trials. Standardised biomarkers to assist in predicting the clinical course of patients presenting with WT could be of great assistance in this process.

According to the SIOP 2001 protocol no molecular markers are currently needed for diagnosis and histopathological risk assessment of WT – routine histological staining such as haematoxylin-eosin should suffice. Still, to

support interpretation of routine histology a wide number of immunohistochemical protein markers are in current clinical use, such as cytokeratins to highlight epithelial components, WT1 for diagnosis on needle biopsies etc. This indicates that histological interpretation is not highlights always straightforward and а need for standardised immunohistochemical protein markers, especially for sub-classification of the tumours. This could also enable more straightforward comparisons between WTs within and between different hospitals, regions or countries. Hopefully, such markers could help to further standardise the risk assessment of WT.

The aim of this thesis was to find clinically useful WT markers through exploration of bioinformatic data followed by extensive validation. Since markers for blastemal elements in WT seemed most needed, the main goal was to discover markers that could detect and quantify these elements.

THE PRESENT STUDY

Aims

To find potential molecular biomarkers for the blastemal component of WT, in order to facilitate a more accurate evaluation of the amount of blastemal cells in WT.

To validate such potential molecular biomarkers extensively on WT cell lines and WT paraffin embedded patient material.

To adapt potential molecular biomarkers for clinical use through an optimised immunohistochemical protocol.

To evaluate how well orthotopic xenograft models of WT, based on cell lines, recapitulate WT biomarker patterns used in the clinic.

Materials and Methods

The overall strategy was first to identify genes overexpressed at the mRNA level in WTs compared to foetal kidneys, as the former typically have larger quantities of blastema than the latter. Genes overexpressed in WT were fist validated by cross-dataset comparisons followed by a database search of protein function and possible expression in foetal kidney. Candidate proteins were assessed by immunofluorescence on WT cell lines and tumour tissue before translation into immunohistochemical protocols for clinical use.

Gene Expression Microarray Data

Publicly available microarray datasets of gene expression from WTs were used in Article I. Genes were selected through comparison between WT and foetal kidney and included for further studies if the ANOVA two group comparisons between WT and foetal kidney had p-values ≤ 0.05 in more than two datasets. All of the datasets were analysed using the Qlucore Omics Explorer (Qlucore AB, Lund, Sweden) software.

Cell Lines and Tissue Sections

Three WT cell lines were used in this study: CCG-99-11, WT-CLS1 and WiT49. CCG-99-11 is a recurrent/metastatic WT cell line that was obtained from Dr. Jonathan D. Licht, Division of Hematology/Oncology, Northwestern University, Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, USA. The WT-CLS1 cell line was commercially available from Cell Line Service, Eppelheim, Germany. WiT49 is an epithelial-anaplastic cell line that was obtained from Dr. Herman Yeger, Developmental & Stem Cell Biology, University of Toronto, Canada.

Paraffin embedded tissue from WT patients treated from 1991 to 2010, anonymized foetal kidney and rare paediatric renal tumours, such as CCSK, RAT, ADCA and CMN were received from the Department of Pathology, at Lund University and Regional Laboratories, Lund, Sweden and the Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, the Netherlands. The studies were approved by the Ethics Committee for Southern Sweden (LU119/03).

Tissue Microarray

A tissue microarray (TMA) was constructed from paraffin embedded tissue from thirty primary WTs, two CCSKs, two RATs, two ADCAs and one CMN. Paraffin embedded relapse WT material from seven patients and three different foetal kidneys were also included. Cores of about 1mm in diameter from these different tissue samples were transferred into a new paraffin block. Multiple cores were chosen from most of the tissue samples. Over 200 different cores were used for the TMA. The TMA paraffin blocks were cut and placed on glass slides.

Detection of Protein Expression

Commercially available antibodies exist as monoclonal or polyclonal. Monoclonal only targets one epitope on the antigen, while polyclonal targets multiple epitopes on the antigen. In this study several IgG type antibodies were used, both polyclonal and monoclonal. One disadvantage of polyclonal antibodies is that the antibody composition may differ between different batches, which will most likely not occur with a monoclonal. An advantage with polyclonal in comparison with monoclonal antibodies is that it can target the protein of interest even if a specific epitope is unavailable.

In situ protein detection

Paraffin embedded tissue sections were used for most of the protein detection methods in this thesis. A heat induced epitope retrieval (HIER) procedure was used to activate the antigen epitopes of the tissue making it possible for the antibody to bind to it. Before adding the antibodies, the tissue was often blocked with blocking solution to minimise unspecific epitope-antibody binding, thereby decreasing false positive detection or background signals.

Immunofluorescence protein staining

An indirect method of immunofluorescence (IF) with two antibodies was used to simultaneously identify two epitopes. In this case, the primary antibodies target selected human protein epitopes and the secondary antibodies target the primary antibodies. The secondary antibodies also carried fluorescent labels called fluorochromes. Two different fluorochomes were used: fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) and Cyanine3 (Cy3). A fluorescence microscope was used to identify the subcellular location of the fluorochromes. Light with specific wavelengths excited the fluorochromes and light of different wavelengths were emitted. FITC has a peak excitation of 495 nm and a peak emission of 519 nm (green). Cy3 has an excitation peak of 550 nm and an emission peak of 570 nm (yellow). 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) was used to stain the nucleic acids in the cell nucleus. DAPI has an excitation peak of 345 nm and an emission peak of 455 nm (blue).

Immunohistochemical (chromogenic) protein staining

An indirect method of immunohistochemical chromogenic (IHC) dual staining combining the chromogens DAB and RED was also used to simultaneously identify two different proteins. Here, a primary antibody binds to the selected human protein epitope. A secondary antibody is linked to an enzyme, horse radish peroxidase (HPR) or alkaline phosphatase (AP). The enzymes are activated with substrates which initiate chromogenic reactions. DAB (3,3'-diaminobenzidine) is oxidised in the presence of HPR and produces a brown insolvable polymer that sticks to the adjacent tissue. To prevent false positive DAB staining, H_2O_2 is used to block peroxidase naturally found in the tissue. AP together with a RED chromogen produces an insoluble red product. The nucleus was counterstained with haematoxylin. Haematoxylin is oxidized into haematin and in the presence of metal ions (Fe(III) or Al(III)) binds to phosphate groups of the nucleus.

Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting

To evaluate epitope expression in commonly used WT cell lines, Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting (FACS) was used. With FACS it is possible to analyse and/or sort cells by targeting cell surface proteins of interest with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies. In a single cell solution, individual cells are isolated into drops which can be analysed and sorted according to their different antibody binding capacity.

Xenograft tumour models

Cells or tissues transplanted from one species into another are called xenografts or xenotransplants. In Article IV three different human WT cell lines were transplanted into the renal capsule of immunodeficient mice to create orthotopic WT xenograft models. These models were established in order to increase the understanding of WT growth mechanisms and preclinical drug testing.

Results

In Article I, a primary search for protein markers for the blastemal component in WT was made, based on three external microarray datasets containing gene expression signatures from a total of 82 WTs and 8 normal foetal kidneys. The WTs were compared with normal foetal kidney to test the hypothesis that at least some genes with higher expression in WT than in foetal kidney would reflect the relative abundance of blastemal cells in WT. Protein expression from 17 candidate genes was investigated further by immunofluorescence on WT cell lines and tissue sections. This selection was based on four criteria: genes highly expressed in WT in comparison with CCSK, genes related to kidney development and gene expressions correlating with SIX1 expression and gene expressions anticorrelating with IRX3 expression, Genes with a similar expression pattern as IRX3 were excluded, since Irx3 regulates tubular maturation during kidney development,^{79,80} and our aim was to identify genes associated with more primitive stages during foetal development. Most of the potential markers investigated proved to be expressed at equal or lower intensity in the blastemal cells than in epithelial or stromal cells. Two exceptions were SIX1 and SIX2, which displayed higher protein expression in WT blastemal cells than in epithelial or stromal cells. SIX1 was found to be more specific for blastemal cells than SIX2. SIX1 stained all but one and SIX2 stained half of the blastemal elements in our WT set.

In Article II, SIX1 and two other potential blastemal markers, CITED1 and CD56, were compared using a TMA containing WTs. Both CITED1 and CD56 had in the literature been shown to be potential blastemal markers.^{81,82} The data in Article II revealed CITED1 and SIX1 to be highly specific markers of the blastemal elements in WT (100% and 89% specificity respectively), while CD56 was expressed in blastema in only 74% of cases, and showed frequent expression in epithelial and stromal elements.

In Article III, SIX1 was chosen for translation into clinical use. This was done by setting up a dual colour SIX1/pan-cytokeratin immunohistochemical staining protocol. By this protocol, SIX1 showed a staining pattern highly similar to the immunofluorescence staining in Article II. During the spring of 2014, SIX1 immunohistochemistry was revalidated with similar good results at the Department of Pathology, Skåne University and Regional Laboratories, Lund, Sweden and is in clinical use since June 2014.

Article IV evaluated the cellular phenotype of WT cell lines xenografted into immunodeficient mice. WiT49 displayed a triphasic WT-like histology with blastemal, epithelial and stromal features but did not metastasize. Both CCG-99-11 and WT-CLS1 showed metastatic spread. CCG-99-11 displayed a blastemal morphology while WT-CLS1 could not be strictly classified into any WT subtype. SIX1 and CD56 stained all WiT49 xenograft elements strongly. SIX1 showed a weak diffuse staining in both CCG-99-11 and WT-CLS xenografts, while CD56 displayed weak diffuse in CCG-99-11 and focal expression in WT-CLS. We concluded that these xenografts poorly reflect WT tissue.

Discussion

Summary of results

In the present studies, multiple potential biomarkers for WT blastemal elements were evaluated in both WT tissue samples and WT cell lines. A few biomarkers were also tested on orthotopic WT xenografts (based on WT cell lines).

The most promising markers for the blastemal elements proved to be SIX1 and CITED1. SIX2 and CD56 expression were also detected in blastemal tumour components but in a far less number of patients. SIX2 and CD56 were for this reason excluded as potential blastemal markers. SIX1 rarely stained stromal and epithelial elements, but did stain the vast majority of the blastemal elements in the WTs investigated. All blastemal elements and some epithelial elements displayed CITED1 staining. SIX1 expression was not detected in all blastemal elements but the expression in epithelial elements was less extensive than for CITED1. In this respect CITED1 proved to be less specific than SIX1as a blastemal biomarker. This was the main reason why SIX1 was chosen as the primary blastemal marker for clinical implementation.

Difficulties in strategies and methods

The strategies used in this study to find potential blastemal biomarkers, might in some aspects prove less straightforward than first expected. The expression data used was not annotated according to WT subtype. Such annotation could have made it less difficult to discover potential blastemal biomarker candidates, since it would enable a comparison between blastemal predominant tumours and other histological subtypes. The mRNA gene expression data did not always correspond to the amount of protein being expressed, making it difficult to identify/extract potential proteins with high expression. The presence of multiple and different amounts of histological elements in each WT, also made the prediction of protein expression for the blastemal element more difficult.

The TMA, introduced in Article II, proved to be timesaving by giving extensive protein expression data more quickly than when using conventional tumour tissue sections. A disadvantage of using the TMA was the size of the tissue cores, which sometimes did not represent all tissue components present in the tumour. Since WTs most often are triphasic and these different tissue elements not often are expressed evenly across the tissue, some elements disappeared when slicing through the tissue core samples. Multiple cores from each WT were acquired to prevent this.

Two *in situ* protein detection methods, IF and IHC, were used in this study. IF makes it possible to turn on and off the protein specific signals while observing the result in a microscope. This can be very useful when investigating co-localisation of multiple proteins since it is possible to view them one at the time or all at once. The IHC method is more stable, usually gives less background and can be viewed in a normal light microscope. Unlike IF, IHC signals do not fade quickly when they come in contact with light. In clinical work the IHC method would prove more useful. However when a comparison between multiple protein markers is needed, especially more than two, the IF method would be preferred. Therefore, IF was used as a primary method in order to study colocalization of potential blastemal biomarkers. However, for clinical implementation we developed an IHC protocol for SIX staining.

Both WT cell lines and tissue samples were used during the course of these experiments. Cell lines differ to a great extent from tissue samples, both in cell composition and genetic diversity. Cell lines often derive from one or a small number of cells and often display a poor similarity in comparison to the diverse WT tissue. However, cell lines also have advantages such as high reproducibility and the possibility to evaluate markers on a large quantity of similar tumour cell material. In the screening for blastemal markers the cell lines described in this study displayed results that often

varied when compared to the WT tissue result, making tissue samples the primary choice when investigating markers. In addition, the WT cell lines used during the course of this study were difficult to classify into the typical histological elements seen in WT patient samples. This strongly questions their representativeness of WT.

Origin of Wilms tumour and principal problems in biomarker studies

The origin of WT has not been fully understood, but it is believed that nephrogenic rests or similar embryonic cells are WT precursors.⁸³

Primary WTs most often contain more than one of the common triphasic elements. This suggests that a precursor cell could differentiate into other WT elements, similar to the differentiation of the metanephric mesenchyme in the foetal kidney during renal development.

If WT arises from a single progenitor cell that later differentiates into blastemal, epithelial and stromal elements, these cells would be closely related making it difficult finding a protein marker that could distinguish between them. They may thereby reflect a continuous spectrum of differentiation rather than distinct cell types. In fact in our study blastemal, epithelial and stromal cells most often displayed the same expression of the many investigated proteins.

More or less aggressive blastemal elements

Unlike in the SIOP protocol, the NWTS protocol does not classify blastemal predominant WTs as high risk. The major difference between these two protocols is routine chemotherapy treatment before removal of the tumour mass. SIOP standard uses pre-chemotherapy treatment and NWTS standard use chemotherapy treatment after tumour removal.⁸⁴ The reason for this difference in risk classification can thus be explained by biological selection. Through chemotherapeutic treatment, drug resistant blastemal cells can be created through positive selection pressure, resulting

in the creation of an aggressive blastemal clone or clones forming new tumours leading to disease progression.

According to the SIOP-protocol a blastemal predominant WT is considered as high risk, while a non-blastemal predominant WT is considered as intermediate risk type. In this case both tumours have existing blastema but only one is considered to be of high risk.

Furthermore, not all chemotherapy treated blastemal predominant WTs result in tumour recurrence or mortality. Blastema predominance is not a flawless measurement for high risk prognosis and cannot alone be used as an accurate prognostic marker. This further underscores that the biology of the blastema differs from patient to patient.

Possibly, a future characterisation of differences in biology between blastemal cells in blastemal predominant WTs vs. non-blastemal types could help in dissecting features of blastema which predicts clinical behaviour. It can be added that none of the blastemal markers in this study could distinguish between more or less aggressive forms of blastemal elements.

Present candidate biomarkers in Wilms tumour

There are several marker often used for classifying WT. WT1 is the most well-known and is expressed in almost all WTs. Cytokeratin markers exist for many of the different epithelial cells in the body, but they are usually not specific for WT and kidney epithelium. Antibodies against CD56 often display a diffuse staining in WT, and TP53 is expressed in anaplastic tumours. Hence, no markers can accurately classify WT. This applies not only to WT markers but also to other biomarkers used against other tumour types. The markers could stain more than one tumour type or not stain all of the tumours of a specific type. This is well known and often solved by using several markers. In this study, SIX1, CITED1, CD56 and SIX2 displayed a more promising expression profile than other investigated markers. SIX1 and CITED1 were superior in staining the blastemal elements of WT.

SIX1 encodes a homeobox protein similar to the Drosophila "sine oculis" gene product, is crucial for kidney development and is expressed in the cap mesenchyme during kidney embryogenesis.⁴⁵ SIX1 is also a cotranscriptional factor and forms a complex together with EYA1.⁸⁵ Mutations in EYA1 or SIX1 are known to cause branchio-oto-renal syndrome with malformations of the nose, ears and kidneys.⁸⁶ About 40% of these patients have a mutation in the EYA1 gene,⁸⁷ while SIX1 mutations are much less common. SIX1 is involved in the development of craniofacial tissues,⁸⁸ sensory neurons,^{89,90} the thymus⁹⁰⁻⁹² and the parathyroid.⁹⁰⁻⁹² SIX1 is also overexpressed in a wide range of human cancers and is associated with disease progression in several neoplasms.⁹³ In breast cancer SIX1 expression increases the risk of metastasis.^{94,95} In ovarian cancer it is correlated with poor survival.⁹⁶ In rhabdomyosarcoma its expression increases with disease stage.⁹⁷ In hepatocellular carcinoma SIX1 expression has been associated to venous infiltration, advanced stage and a decreased survival.⁹⁸ Finally, in murine breast cancer it has been shown to promote epithelial to mesenchymal transition⁹⁹ through a TGF-beta-dependent mechanism.^{95,100} SIX1 has so far not been shown to have any clear role in WT pathogenesis and its expression in blastema may well be a feature simply signifying a state of metanephric-like differentiation.

CITED1 is a member of the CREB-binding protein/p300-interacting transactivator with Asparagine/Glutamic acid-rich carboxyl-terminal domain (CITED) family proteins and is believed to be a transcriptional coactivator.¹⁰¹ CITED1 is expressed in progenitor cells during kidney development and remains active in WT.^{102,103} It is also expressed in liver development and hepatoblastoma, but undetectable in adult liver. Hepatablastoma contains, as most WTs, an epithelial and embryonic/foetal mix.¹⁰⁴ Downregulation of CITED1 has been shown to suppress intestinal tumour development¹⁰⁵ and lymph node metastasis has been predicted with CITED1 expression as a positive marker.¹⁰⁶ CITED1 was highly expressed

in most WT elements and could suggest the presence of embryonic features in all these different components.

CD56 is a neural cell adhesion protein and a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily. It is expressed in multiple tumours like neuroblastoma, rhabdomyosarcoma, brain tumours, small cell lung cancer, multiple myelomas and acute myeloid leukaemia.¹⁰⁷ CD56 staining of the blastemal element in WT has displayed irregular results in various studies.^{108,109} The same irregular staining with positive or negative CD56 expression in different WTs has been seen in this study (Article II).

The future of biomarkers and treatment targets in Wilms tumour

SIX1 is by itself not a prognostic marker. It only helps to distinguish blastemal components from other WT components. This marker does not replace a pathologist's evaluation and should only be used as a tool to help give a more accurate estimation of the extent of the blastemal component.

Established prognostic factors in WT are mostly non-molecular and include disease stage, histological subtype, tumour volume and patient age. One major improvement in treatment for WT patients would be to expand the range of these prognostic markers. Some examples of molecular markers to determine prognosis in WT are the loss of heterozygosity at chromosome 1p and 16q, *TP53* mutations or B7-H1.^{78,110} High expression of *Lin28* has also a prognostic value. It both prolongs renal development and promotes the forming of Wilms tumour. *LIN28* expression is also associated to blastemal cells.¹¹¹ The value of this protein as a blastemal marker still needs to be evaluated further. Combining multiple biomarkers could also prove to be a step forward in classifying WT risk groups and tumour prognosis.

It would be interesting to functionally investigate the role of SIX1 and CITED1 in the blastemal component of WT to give an indication if they could be possible therapeutic targets.

Conclusion

- SIX1 and CITED1 are useful markers to identify blastemal elements in WT.
- SIX1 is successfully introduced as a clinical marker for the blastemal elements in WT.
- The WT cell lines used in this study poorly reflect human WT tissue in regard to biomarker expression and morphology.

SVENSK SAMMANFATTNING

Wilms tumör eller nefroblastom är en njurtumör som drabbar 10-15 barn i Sverige varje år. Majoriteten av dessa är under sex år vid insjuknandet och 10 % av de som drabbas överlever inte sjukdomen. Tumören består oftast av tre stycken cellkomponenter: blastem, epitel och stroma. Dessa komponenter kan finnas av olika mängd i tumören. Om en tumör består av mer än 2/3 av någon av dessa tre komponenter betraktas den tillhöra blastemal, epitelial eller stromal undergrupp. Wilms tumör liknar de cellkomponenter som finns i njuren under den tidiga utvecklingen. Det är en av anledningarna till varför man tror att Wilms tumör uppkommer från celler som har avstannat i ett primitivt stadie under fostrets njurutveckling.

I Sverige och största delen av Europa används ett gemensamt protokoll, SIOP-protokollet, för att behandla patienter med Wilms tumör. Det är ett standardiserat protokoll som innebär behandling efter särskilda kriterier. Denna behandling är till stor del beroende av vilken undergrupp tumören klassificeras som. Klassificeringen av dessa undergrupper görs genom att ta prov av tumören som undersöks av en patolog i mikroskop. En undergrupp som är associerad med hög risk är de blastemala tumörerna. Dessa högrisktumörer får en mer omfattande behandling. En patient med Wilms tumör utsätts för cytostatika, kirurgi och ibland även strålning. Denna behandling innebär att patienter kan drabbas av biverkningar. Oftast innebär en tuffare behandling också fler och allvarligare biverkningar. Därför är det viktigt att varje tumör sorteras i rätt undergrupp/riskgrupp.

I denna studie har potentiella biomarkörer för det blastemala elementet i Wilms tumör undersökts. Detta för att hitta mer objektiva sätt att riskgruppera patienterna än patologisk klassificering. När denna studie påbörjades användes ännu ingen biomarkör för enbart den blastemala tumörkomponent inom sjukvården. Potentiella markörer hittades genom litteratursökningar och genom att jämföra genuttryck i omogen njure med Wilms tumör. Dessa potentiella markörer undersöktes sedan på proteinnivå i upp till 30 olika Wilms tumörer med hjälp av två olika metoder. Dessa metoder var immunofluorescens samt immunohistokemi.

Två stycken markörer för blastemkomponenten i Wilms tumör utmärkte sig särskilt. Dessa var SIX1 och CITED1. Båda proteinerna är viktiga under njurutvecklingen hos foster, men ska normalt inte uttryckas i mogen njure. I Wilms tumör var SIX1 och CITED1 till största delen uttryckta i blastemkomponenten. Den största skillnaden mellan dessa två markörer var att CITED1 till stor utsträckning också var uttryckt i epitelkomponenten, SIX1 valdes därför ut för validering som klinisk markör för blastemkomponenten i Wilms tumör. I juni 2014 började den användas som klinisk markör vid Laboratoriemedicin Skåne.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my greatest gratitude and appreciation to:

David Gisselsson Nord, my head supervisor, for believing in me and giving me the chance to do meaningful research that actually made a difference to the patients. All my weaknesses were your strengths. I will always remember your contagious enthusiasm and all the interesting hours in front of the microscopes that taught me the true meaning of pathology.

Linda Holmquist Mengelbier, Jenny Karlsson and David Lindgren, my co-supervisors, for all the help you gave me when I needed it.

The PIs and senior scientists at the department: Felix Mitelman, Nils Mandahl, Thoas Fioretes, Fredrik Mertens, Bertil Johansson, Kajsa Pålsson, Anna Andersson and Marcus Järås for creating a good working environment, making the Dept. of Clinical Genetics to what it is today and for employing amusing PhD students.

The former and present PhD students: Henrik Lilljebjörn, Hammurabi Bartuma, Helena Ågerstam, Gisela Lundberg, Nils Hansen, Setareh Safavi, Linda Olsson, Elsa Arbajian, Mia Eriksson, Anders Valind, Axel Hyrenius Wittsten, Pablo Peña, Niklas Landberg, Charles Walther, Alexandros Arvanitakis and Kristina Karrman for the scientifically discussions, small talks and all the hilarious activities inside and outside of the workplace.

Anette Welin, for helping me out with all the administrating work that would have been next to impossible without you.

The technical staff: Aseel Albayati, Sandra Gordon, Caroline Jansson, Linda Magnusson, Andrea Biloglav, Jenny Nilsson, Carl Högberg, **Marianne Rissler, Carin Lassen and Margareth Isaksson** for helping me around the lab. Especially thanks to Aseel for teaching me how to do IHC double staining and Sandra who taught me almost everything you need to know about flow cytometry.

The Department of Clinical Genetics at Skåne University and Regional Laboratories, Lund: Ulf Kristoffersson, Mia Soller, Yuesheng Jin, Eva Lindstedt, Ali Gudarzi, Ali Al-Jawahery, Mina Hosseini, Dalton Baumann, Samuel Gebre-Mehdin, Emma Mårtensson, Anna Collin, Yuesheng Jin, Tord Jonson, Markus Heidenblad, Ingrid Rosell van der Werf, Kristel Nilsson and all the other co-workers at the department both at the hospital and at BMC. I would like to give special thanks to my colleagues in "Trivselkommitén" 2012-2013. Especially Karin Svensson, Josefin Laustsen, Sofie Samuelsson and Katarina Högberg for great fun and the unforgettable Christmas parties.

The researchers: **Susanne Magnusson, Ingrid Øra and Bengt Sandstedt** for the help and guidance. A special thanks to Susanne for the help and guidance at AACR 2012 in Chicago.

The staff at the Department of Pathology, Skåne University and Regional Laboratories, Lund, for cutting hundreds of tissue section for my research and for all other help. I wish to give a special thanks to **Cristina-Daria Ciornei** for all the work on the TMA.

All guest researchers and exchange students: Gemma, Christina, Ramprasad and Naveen, who shared office with me and made my days even more enjoyable.

My family: mother, father, sister with family, brother, wife and sons, for supporting and believing in me. I also wish to give a special thanks to my wife's family and friends.

My friends: Andreas, Peter, Angelo, Oscar and Hanna for all the game nights and spare time adventures.

REFERECES

- 1. Zantinga AR, Coppes MJ. Max Wilms (1867-1918): the man behind the eponym. Medical and pediatric oncology 1992:20(6):515-518.
- 2. Mehta MP, Bastin KT, Wiersma SR. Treatment of Wilms' tumour. Current recommendations. Drugs 1991:42(5):766-780.
- 3. Gross RE, Neuhauser EB. Treatment of mixed tumors of the kidney in childhood. Pediatrics 1950:6(6):843-852.
- 4. Farber S, D'Angio G, Evans A, Mitus A. Clinical studies on actinomycin D with special reference to Wilms' tumor in children. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1960:89:421-425.
- 5. Bhatnagar S. Management of Wilms' tumor: NWTS vs SIOP. Journal of Indian Association of Pediatric Surgeons 2009:14(1):6-14.
- 6. Ledlie EM, Mynors LS, Draper GJ, Gorbach PD. Natural history and treatment of Wilms's tumour: an analysis of 335 cases occurring in England and Wales 1962-6. British medical journal 1970:4(5729):195-200.
- 7. Cassady JR, Tefft M, Filler RM, Jaffe N, Paed D, Hellman S. Considerations in the radiation therapy of Wilms' tumor. Cancer 1973:32(3):598-608.
- Bond JV. Prognosis and treatment of Wilms' tumor at Great Ormond Street Hospital for Sick Children--1960-1972. Cancer 1975:36(4):1202-1207.
- Lemerle J, Voute PA, Tournade MF, Rodary C, Delemarre JF, Sarrazin D, Burgers JM, Sandstedt B, Mildenberger H, Carli M, et al. Effectiveness of preoperative chemotherapy in Wilms' tumor: results of an International Society of Paediatric Oncology (SIOP) clinical trial. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 1983:1(10):604-609.

- 10. Davidoff AM. Wilms' tumor. Curr Opin Pediatr 2009:21(3):357-364.
- 11. Pritchard-Jones K. Controversies and advances in the management of Wilms' tumour. Arch Dis Child 2002:87(3):241-244.
- 12. Sebire NJ. Diagnostic pediatric surgical pathology: Churchill Livingstone, Elsevier; 2010.
- 13. Tay JS. Molecular genetics of Wilms' tumour. Journal of paediatrics and child health 1995:31(5):379-383.
- 14. Israels T, Borgstein E, Pidini D, Chagaluka G, de Kraker J, Kamiza S, Molyneux EM. Management of children with a Wilms tumor in Malawi, sub-Saharan Africa. Journal of pediatric hematology/oncology 2012:34(8):606-610.
- Axt J, Abdallah F, Axt M, Githanga J, Hansen E, Lessan J, Li M, Musimbi J, Mwachiro M, Newton M, Ndung'u J, Njuguna F, Nzioka A, Oruko O, Patel K, Tenge R, Ukoli F, White R, O'Neill JA, Jr., Lovvorn HN, 3rd. Wilms tumor survival in Kenya. Journal of pediatric surgery 2013:48(6):1254-1262.
- Reinhard H, Aliani S, Ruebe C, Stockle M, Leuschner I, Graf N. Wilms' tumor in adults: results of the Society of Pediatric Oncology (SIOP) 93-01/Society for Pediatric Oncology and Hematology (GPOH) Study. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 2004:22(22):4500-4506.
- 17. Karlsson J, Holmquist Mengelbier L, Elfving P, Gisselsson Nord D. Highresolution genomic profiling of an adult Wilms' tumor: evidence for a pathogenesis distinct from corresponding pediatric tumors. Virchows Archiv : an international journal of pathology 2011:459(5):547-553.
- Sharma SC, Menon PA. Clear cell sarcoma of the kidney. Journal of postgraduate medicine 2001:47(3):206-207.
- 19. Beckwith JB, Palmer NF. Histopathology and prognosis of Wilms tumors: results from the First National Wilms' Tumor Study. Cancer 1978:41(5):1937-1948.
- 20. Argani P, Perlman EJ, Breslow NE, Browning NG, Green DM, D'Angio GJ, Beckwith JB. Clear cell sarcoma of the kidney: a review of 351 cases from

the National Wilms Tumor Study Group Pathology Center. The American journal of surgical pathology 2000:24(1):4-18.

- 21. McHugh K. Renal and adrenal tumours in children. Cancer imaging : the official publication of the International Cancer Imaging Society 2007:7:41-51.
- 22. Bolande RP, Brough AJ, Izant RJ, Jr. Congenital mesoblastic nephroma of infancy. A report of eight cases and the relationship to Wilms' tumor. Pediatrics 1967:40(2):272-278.
- 23. Howell CG, Othersen HB, Kiviat NE, Norkool P, Beckwith JB, D'Angio GJ. Therapy and outcome in 51 children with mesoblastic nephroma: a report of the National Wilms' Tumor Study. Journal of pediatric surgery 1982:17(6):826-831.
- Bosquet M, Dominguez C, Balaguer J, Serrano A, Estornell F, Martinez-Verduch M, Garcia-Ibarra F. Pediatric renal adenocarcinoma: a review of our series. Urology 2008:72(4):790-793.
- 25. Tsai HL, Chin TW, Chang JW, Liu CS, Wei CF. Renal cell carcinoma in children and young adults. Journal of the Chinese Medical Association : JCMA 2006:69(5):240-244.
- 26. Rowe RG, Thomas DG, Schuetze SM, Hafez KS, Lawlor ER, Chugh R. Ewing sarcoma of the kidney: case series and literature review of an often overlooked entity in the diagnosis of primary renal tumors. Urology 2013:81(2):347-353.
- 27. Risi E, Iacovelli R, Altavilla A, Alesini D, Palazzo A, Mosillo C, Trenta P, Cortesi E. Clinical and pathological features of primary neuroectodermal tumor/Ewing sarcoma of the kidney. Urology 2013:82(2):382-386.
- 28. Sacher P, Willi UV, Niggli F, Stallmach T. Cystic nephroma: a rare benign renal tumor. Pediatric surgery international 1998:13(2-3):197-199.
- 29. Mehrain R, Nabahati M. A case of rhabdomyosarcoma of kidney mimicking nephroblastoma. Caspian journal of internal medicine 2013:4(1):621-623.

- Riccardi VM, Sujansky E, Smith AC, Francke U. Chromosomal imbalance in the Aniridia-Wilms' tumor association: 11p interstitial deletion. Pediatrics 1978:61(4):604-610.
- 31. Francke U, Holmes LB, Atkins L, Riccardi VM. Aniridia-Wilms' tumor association: evidence for specific deletion of 11p13. Cytogenetics and cell genetics 1979:24(3):185-192.
- 32. Clericuzio C, Hingorani M, Crolla JA, van Heyningen V, Verloes A. Clinical utility gene card for: WAGR syndrome. European journal of human genetics : EJHG 2011:19(4).
- 33. Fischbach BV, Trout KL, Lewis J, Luis CA, Sika M. WAGR syndrome: a clinical review of 54 cases. Pediatrics 2005:116(4):984-988.
- 34. Little M, Wells C. A clinical overview of WT1 gene mutations. Human mutation 1997:9(3):209-225.
- 35. Cleper R, Davidovitz M, Krause I, Bar Nathan N, Ash S, Schwarz M, Mor C, Eisenstein B. Unexpected Wilms' tumor in a pediatric renal transplant recipient: suspected Denys-Drash syndrome. Transplantation proceedings 1999:31(4):1907-1909.
- 36. DeBaun MR, Tucker MA. Risk of cancer during the first four years of life in children from The Beckwith-Wiedemann Syndrome Registry. The Journal of pediatrics 1998:132(3 Pt 1):398-400.
- 37. Weksberg R, Nishikawa J, Caluseriu O, Fei YL, Shuman C, Wei C, Steele L, Cameron J, Smith A, Ambus I, Li M, Ray PN, Sadowski P, Squire J. Tumor development in the Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome is associated with a variety of constitutional molecular 11p15 alterations including imprinting defects of KCNQ1OT1. Human molecular genetics 2001:10(26):2989-3000.
- 38. O'Keefe D, Dao D, Zhao L, Sanderson R, Warburton D, Weiss L, Anyane-Yeboa K, Tycko B. Coding mutations in p57KIP2 are present in some cases of Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome but are rare or absent in Wilms tumors. American journal of human genetics 1997:61(2):295-303.

- 39. Lapunzina P. Risk of tumorigenesis in overgrowth syndromes: a comprehensive review. American journal of medical genetics Part C, Seminars in medical genetics 2005:137C(1):53-71.
- 40. Koziell A, Charmandari E, Hindmarsh PC, Rees L, Scambler P, Brook CG. Frasier syndrome, part of the Denys Drash continuum or simply a WT1 gene associated disorder of intersex and nephropathy? Clinical endocrinology 2000:52(4):519-524.
- 41. Berger C, Frappaz D, Leroux D, Blez F, Vercherat M, Bouffet E, Jalbert P, Brunat-Mentigny M. [Wilms tumor and Bloom syndrome]. Archives de pediatrie : organe officiel de la Societe francaise de pediatrie 1996:3(8):802-805.
- Dumoucel S, Gauthier-Villars M, Stoppa-Lyonnet D, Parisot P, Brisse H, Philippe-Chomette P, Sarnacki S, Boccon-Gibod L, Rossignol S, Baumann C, Aerts I, Bourdeaut F, Doz F, Orbach D, Pacquement H, Michon J, Schleiermacher G. Malformations, genetic abnormalities, and Wilms tumor. Pediatric blood & cancer 2014:61(1):140-144.
- Shvartsbeyn M, Bassani L, Mikolaenko I, Wisoff JH. Brain metastasis of Wilms tumor with diffuse anaplasia and complex cytogenetic phenotype in a child with neurofibromatosis Type 1. Journal of neurosurgery Pediatrics 2011:8(4):353-356.
- 44. Beckwith JB. Nephrogenic rests and the pathogenesis of Wilms tumor: developmental and clinical considerations. American journal of medical genetics 1998:79(4):268-273.
- 45. Xu PX, Zheng W, Huang L, Maire P, Laclef C, Silvius D. Six1 is required for the early organogenesis of mammalian kidney. Development 2003:130(14):3085-3094.
- 46. Boyle S, Shioda T, Perantoni AO, de Caestecker M. Cited1 and Cited2 are differentially expressed in the developing kidney but are not required for nephrogenesis. Developmental dynamics : an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists 2007:236(8):2321-2330.
- 47. Lechner MS, Dressler GR. The molecular basis of embryonic kidney development. Mechanisms of development 1997:62(2):105-120.

- 48. Sulak O, Ozguner G, Malas MA. Size and location of the kidneys during the fetal period. Surgical and radiologic anatomy : SRA 2011:33(5):381-388.
- 49. Vujanic GM, Sandstedt B. The pathology of Wilms' tumour (nephroblastoma): the International Society of Paediatric Oncology approach. J Clin Pathol 2010:63(2):102-109.
- 50. Li CM, Guo M, Borczuk A, Powell CA, Wei M, Thaker HM, Friedman R, Klein U, Tycko B. Gene expression in Wilms' tumor mimics the earliest committed stage in the metanephric mesenchymal-epithelial transition. The American journal of pathology 2002:160(6):2181-2190.
- 51. Rivera MN, Haber DA. Wilms' tumour: connecting tumorigenesis and organ development in the kidney. Nat Rev Cancer 2005:5(9):699-712.
- 52. Sethi D, Sen R, Parshad S, Khetarpal S, Garg M, Sen J. Histopathologic changes following neoadjuvant chemotherapy in various malignancies. International journal of applied & basic medical research 2012:2(2):111-116.
- 53. Fernandes ET, Parham DM, Ribeiro RC, Douglass EC, Kumar AP, Wilimas J. Teratoid Wilms' tumor: the St Jude experience. Journal of pediatric surgery 1988:23(12):1131-1134.
- 54. Mukhopadhyay B, Shukla RM, Mukhopadhyay M, Mandi S, Roy D, Bhattacharya MK. Teratoid Wilms' tumor A rare renal tumor. Urology annals 2011:3(3):155-157.
- 55. Katsetos CD, Nakahara C, Agamanolis DP, Karkavelas G, Lebenthal E, Frankfurter A. Localization of the neuronal class III beta-tubulin isotype in foci of early neuritogenesis supports divergent neuroblastic differentiation potential in Wilms' tumors. Archives of pathology & laboratory medicine 1994:118(10):1002-1006.
- 56. Ahmed HU, Arya M, Tsiouris A, Sellaturay SV, Shergill IS, Duffy PG, Mushtaq I. An update on the management of Wilms' tumour. European journal of surgical oncology : the journal of the European Society of Surgical Oncology and the British Association of Surgical Oncology 2007:33(7):824-831.

- 57. Brisse HJ, Smets AM, Kaste SC, Owens CM. Imaging in unilateral Wilms tumour. Pediatric radiology 2008:38(1):18-29.
- 58. Termuhlen AM, Tersak JM, Liu Q, Yasui Y, Stovall M, Weathers R, Deutsch M, Sklar CA, Oeffinger KC, Armstrong G, Robison LL, Green DM. Twenty-five year follow-up of childhood Wilms tumor: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Pediatric blood & cancer 2011:57(7):1210-1216.
- 59. Levitt G. Renal tumours: long-term outcome. Pediatr Nephrol 2012:27(6):911-916.
- Breslow NE, Takashima JR, Whitton JA, Moksness J, D'Angio GJ, Green DM. Second malignant neoplasms following treatment for Wilm's tumor: a report from the National Wilms' Tumor Study Group. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 1995:13(8):1851-1859.
- 61. Taylor AJ, Winter DL, Pritchard-Jones K, Stiller CA, Frobisher C, Lancashire ER, Reulen RC, Hawkins MM. Second primary neoplasms in survivors of Wilms' tumour--a population-based cohort study from the British Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer 2008:122(9):2085-2093.
- 62. Kenney LB, Laufer MR, Grant FD, Grier H, Diller L. High risk of infertility and long term gonadal damage in males treated with high dose cyclophosphamide for sarcoma during childhood. Cancer 2001:91(3):613-621.
- 63. Reulen RC, Winter DL, Lancashire ER, Zeegers MP, Jenney ME, Walters SJ, Jenkinson C, Hawkins MM. Health-status of adult survivors of childhood cancer: a large-scale population-based study from the British Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer 2007:121(3):633-640.
- 64. Pang JW, Friedman DL, Whitton JA, Stovall M, Mertens AC, Robison LL, Weiss NS. Employment status among adult survivors in the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Pediatric blood & cancer 2008:50(1):104-110.
- 65. Lahteenmaki PM, Sankila R, Pukkala E, Kyyronen P, Harila-Saari A. Scholastic achievement of children with lymphoma or Wilms tumor at the

end of comprehensive education--a nationwide, register-based study. International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer 2008:123(10):2401-2405.

- 66. Gurney JG, Krull KR, Kadan-Lottick N, Nicholson HS, Nathan PC, Zebrack B, Tersak JM, Ness KK. Social outcomes in the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study cohort. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 2009:27(14):2390-2395.
- 67. Satoh Y, Nakadate H, Nakagawachi T, Higashimoto K, Joh K, Masaki Z, Uozumi J, Kaneko Y, Mukai T, Soejima H. Genetic and epigenetic alterations on the short arm of chromosome 11 are involved in a majority of sporadic Wilms' tumours. British journal of cancer 2006:95(4):541-547.
- Ramani P, Cowell JK. The expression pattern of Wilms' tumour gene (WT1) product in normal tissues and paediatric renal tumours. The Journal of pathology 1996:179(2):162-168.
- 69. Beygo J, Citro V, Sparago A, De Crescenzo A, Cerrato F, Heitmann M, Rademacher K, Guala A, Enklaar T, Anichini C, Cirillo Silengo M, Graf N, Prawitt D, Cubellis MV, Horsthemke B, Buiting K, Riccio A. The molecular function and clinical phenotype of partial deletions of the IGF2/H19 imprinting control region depends on the spatial arrangement of the remaining CTCF-binding sites. Human molecular genetics 2013:22(3):544-557.
- 70. Tian F, Yourek G, Shi X, Yang Y. The development of Wilms tumor: From WT1 and microRNA to animal models. Biochimica et biophysica acta 2014:1846(1):180-187.
- 71. Akhavanfard S, Vargas SO, Han M, Nitta M, Chang CB, Le LP, Fazlollahi L, Nguyen Q, Ma Y, Cosper A, Dias-Santagata D, Han JY, Bergethon K, Borger DR, Ellisen LW, Pomeroy SL, Haber DA, lafrate AJ, Rivera MN. Inactivation of the tumor suppressor WTX in a subset of pediatric tumors. Genes, chromosomes & cancer 2014:53(1):67-77.
- 72. Hill DA, Shear TD, Liu T, Billups CA, Singh PK, Dome JS. Clinical and biologic significance of nuclear unrest in Wilms tumor. Cancer 2003:97(9):2318-2326.

- 73. Bardeesy N, Beckwith JB, Pelletier J. Clonal expansion and attenuated apoptosis in Wilms' tumors are associated with p53 gene mutations. Cancer research 1995:55(2):215-219.
- 74. Mengelbier LH, Karlsson J, Lindgren D, Ora I, Isaksson M, Frigyesi I, Frigyesi A, Bras J, Sandstedt B, Gisselsson D. Deletions of 16q in Wilms tumors localize to blastemal-anaplastic cells and are associated with reduced expression of the IRXB renal tubulogenesis gene cluster. The American journal of pathology 2010:177(5):2609-2621.
- 75. Grundy PE, Breslow NE, Li S, Perlman E, Beckwith JB, Ritchey ML, Shamberger RC, Haase GM, D'Angio GJ, Donaldson M, Coppes MJ, Malogolowkin M, Shearer P, Thomas PR, Macklis R, Tomlinson G, Huff V, Green DM. Loss of heterozygosity for chromosomes 1p and 16q is an adverse prognostic factor in favorable-histology Wilms tumor: a report from the National Wilms Tumor Study Group. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 2005:23(29):7312-7321.
- 76. Messahel B, Williams R, Ridolfi A, A'Hern R, Warren W, Tinworth L, Hobson R, Al-Saadi R, Whyman G, Brundler MA, Kelsey A, Sebire N, Jones C, Vujanic G, Pritchard-Jones K. Allele loss at 16q defines poorer prognosis Wilms tumour irrespective of treatment approach in the UKW1-3 clinical trials: a Children's Cancer and Leukaemia Group (CCLG) Study. Eur J Cancer 2009:45(5):819-826.
- 77. Spreafico F, Gamba B, Mariani L, Collini P, D'Angelo P, Pession A, Di Cataldo A, Indolfi P, Nantron M, Terenziani M, Morosi C, Radice P, Perotti D. Loss of heterozygosity analysis at different chromosome regions in Wilms tumor confirms 1p allelic loss as a marker of worse prognosis: a study from the Italian Association of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology. The Journal of urology 2013:189(1):260-266.
- 78. Routh JC, Grundy PE, Anderson JR, Retik AB, Kurek KC. B7-h1 as a biomarker for therapy failure in patients with favorable histology Wilms tumor. The Journal of urology 2013:189(4):1487-1492.
- 79. Reggiani L, Raciti D, Airik R, Kispert A, Brandli AW. The prepattern transcription factor Irx3 directs nephron segment identity. Genes & development 2007:21(18):2358-2370.

- Alarcon P, Rodriguez-Seguel E, Fernandez-Gonzalez A, Rubio R, Gomez-Skarmeta JL. A dual requirement for Iroquois genes during Xenopus kidney development. Development 2008:135(19):3197-3207.
- Lovvorn HN, Westrup J, Opperman S, Boyle S, Shi G, Anderson J, Perlman EJ, Perantoni AO, Wills M, de Caestecker M. CITED1 expression in Wilms' tumor and embryonic kidney. Neoplasia 2007:9(7):589-600.
- 82. Metsuyanim S, Harari-Steinberg O, Buzhor E, Omer D, Pode-Shakked N, Ben-Hur H, Halperin R, Schneider D, Dekel B. Expression of stem cell markers in the human fetal kidney. PloS one 2009:4(8):e6709.
- Lonergan GJ, Martinez-Leon MI, Agrons GA, Montemarano H, Suarez ES. Nephrogenic rests, nephroblastomatosis, and associated lesions of the kidney. Radiographics : a review publication of the Radiological Society of North America, Inc 1998:18(4):947-968.
- 84. Metzger ML, Dome JS. Current therapy for Wilms' tumor. The oncologist 2005:10(10):815-826.
- 85. Xu PX. The EYA-SO/SIX complex in development and disease. Pediatr Nephrol 2013:28(6):843-854.
- 86. Ruf RG, Xu PX, Silvius D, Otto EA, Beekmann F, Muerb UT, Kumar S, Neuhaus TJ, Kemper MJ, Raymond RM, Jr., Brophy PD, Berkman J, Gattas M, Hyland V, Ruf EM, Schwartz C, Chang EH, Smith RJ, Stratakis CA, Weil D, Petit C, Hildebrandt F. SIX1 mutations cause branchio-oto-renal syndrome by disruption of EYA1-SIX1-DNA complexes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2004:101(21):8090-8095.
- 87. Chang EH, Menezes M, Meyer NC, Cucci RA, Vervoort VS, Schwartz CE, Smith RJ. Branchio-oto-renal syndrome: the mutation spectrum in EYA1 and its phenotypic consequences. Human mutation 2004:23(6):582-589.
- Neilson KM, Pignoni F, Yan B, Moody SA. Developmental expression patterns of candidate cofactors for vertebrate six family transcription factors. Developmental dynamics : an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists 2010:239(12):3446-3466.

- 89. Konishi Y, Ikeda K, Iwakura Y, Kawakami K. Six1 and Six4 promote survival of sensory neurons during early trigeminal gangliogenesis. Brain Res 2006:1116(1):93-102.
- 90. Zou D, Silvius D, Fritzsch B, Xu PX. Eya1 and Six1 are essential for early steps of sensory neurogenesis in mammalian cranial placodes. Development 2004:131(22):5561-5572.
- 91. Laclef C, Souil E, Demignon J, Maire P. Thymus, kidney and craniofacial abnormalities in Six 1 deficient mice. Mechanisms of development 2003:120(6):669-679.
- 92. Ozaki H, Nakamura K, Funahashi J, Ikeda K, Yamada G, Tokano H, Okamura HO, Kitamura K, Muto S, Kotaki H, Sudo K, Horai R, Iwakura Y, Kawakami K. Six1 controls patterning of the mouse otic vesicle. Development 2004:131(3):551-562.
- 93. Christensen KL, Patrick AN, McCoy EL, Ford HL. The six family of homeobox genes in development and cancer. Adv Cancer Res 2008:101:93-126.
- 94. Reichenberger KJ, Coletta RD, Schulte AP, Varella-Garcia M, Ford HL. Gene amplification is a mechanism of Six1 overexpression in breast cancer. Cancer research 2005:65(7):2668-2675.
- 95. Micalizzi DS, Christensen KL, Jedlicka P, Coletta RD, Baron AE, Harrell JC, Horwitz KB, Billheimer D, Heichman KA, Welm AL, Schiemann WP, Ford HL. The Six1 homeoprotein induces human mammary carcinoma cells to undergo epithelial-mesenchymal transition and metastasis in mice through increasing TGF-beta signaling. J Clin Invest 2009:119(9):2678-2690.
- 96. Behbakht K, Qamar L, Aldridge CS, Coletta RD, Davidson SA, Thorburn A, Ford HL. Six1 overexpression in ovarian carcinoma causes resistance to TRAIL-mediated apoptosis and is associated with poor survival. Cancer research 2007:67(7):3036-3042.
- 97. Yu Y, Khan J, Khanna C, Helman L, Meltzer PS, Merlino G. Expression profiling identifies the cytoskeletal organizer ezrin and the developmental homeoprotein Six-1 as key metastatic regulators. Nat Med 2004:10(2):175-181.

- Ng KT, Man K, Sun CK, Lee TK, Poon RT, Lo CM, Fan ST. Clinicopathological significance of homeoprotein Six1 in hepatocellular carcinoma. British journal of cancer 2006:95(8):1050-1055.
- 99. McCoy EL, Iwanaga R, Jedlicka P, Abbey NS, Chodosh LA, Heichman KA, Welm AL, Ford HL. Six1 expands the mouse mammary epithelial stem/progenitor cell pool and induces mammary tumors that undergo epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest 2009:119(9):2663-2677.
- 100. Micalizzi DS, Wang CA, Farabaugh SM, Schiemann WP, Ford HL. Homeoprotein Six1 increases TGF-beta type I receptor and converts TGFbeta signaling from suppressive to supportive for tumor growth. Cancer research 2010:70(24):10371-10380.
- 101. Braganca J, Swingler T, Marques FI, Jones T, Eloranta JJ, Hurst HC, Shioda T, Bhattacharya S. Human CREB-binding protein/p300-interacting transactivator with ED-rich tail (CITED) 4, a new member of the CITED family, functions as a co-activator for transcription factor AP-2. The Journal of biological chemistry 2002:277(10):8559-8565.
- 102. Plisov S, Tsang M, Shi G, Boyle S, Yoshino K, Dunwoodie SL, Dawid IB, Shioda T, Perantoni AO, de Caestecker MP. Cited1 is a bifunctional transcriptional cofactor that regulates early nephronic patterning. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN 2005:16(6):1632-1644.
- 103. Murphy AJ, Pierce J, de Caestecker C, Taylor C, Anderson JR, Perantoni AO, de Caestecker MP, Lovvorn HN, 3rd. SIX2 and CITED1, markers of nephronic progenitor self-renewal, remain active in primitive elements of Wilms' tumor. Journal of pediatric surgery 2012:47(6):1239-1249.
- 104. Murphy AJ, de Caestecker C, Pierce J, Boyle SC, Ayers GD, Zhao Z, Libes JM, Correa H, Walter T, Huppert SS, Perantoni AO, de Caestecker MP, Lovvorn HN, 3rd. CITED1 expression in liver development and hepatoblastoma. Neoplasia 2012:14(12):1153-1163.
- 105. Meniel V, Song F, Phesse T, Young M, Poetz O, Parry L, Jenkins JR, Williams GT, Dunwoodie SL, Watson A, Clarke AR. Cited1 deficiency suppresses intestinal tumorigenesis. PLoS genetics 2013:9(8):e1003638.
- 106. Nasu T, Oku Y, Takifuji K, Hotta T, Yokoyama S, Matsuda K, Tamura K, Ieda J, Yamamoto N, Takemura S, Nakamura Y, Yamaue H. Predicting

lymph node metastasis in early colorectal cancer using the CITED1 expression. The Journal of surgical research 2013:185(1):136-142.

- 107. Jensen M, Berthold F. Targeting the neural cell adhesion molecule in cancer. Cancer letters 2007:258(1):9-21.
- 108. Pode-Shakked N, Shukrun R, Mark-Danieli M, Tsvetkov P, Bahar S, Pri-Chen S, Goldstein RS, Rom-Gross E, Mor Y, Fridman E, Meir K, Simon A, Magister M, Kaminski N, Goldmacher VS, Harari-Steinberg O, Dekel B. The isolation and characterization of renal cancer initiating cells from human Wilms' tumour xenografts unveils new therapeutic targets. EMBO molecular medicine 2013:5(1):18-37.
- 109. Vasei M, Moch H, Mousavi A, Kajbafzadeh AM, Sauter G. Immunohistochemical profiling of Wilms tumor: a tissue microarray study. Applied immunohistochemistry & molecular morphology : AIMM / official publication of the Society for Applied Immunohistochemistry 2008:16(2):128-134.
- 110. Dome JS, Perlman EJ, Graf N. Risk stratification for wilms tumor: current approach and future directions. American Society of Clinical Oncology educational book / ASCO American Society of Clinical Oncology Meeting 2014:215-223.
- 111. Urbach A, Yermalovich A, Zhang J, Spina CS, Zhu H, Perez-Atayde AR, Shukrun R, Charlton J, Sebire N, Mifsud W, Dekel B, Pritchard-Jones K, Daley GQ. Lin28 sustains early renal progenitors and induces Wilms tumor. Genes & development 2014:28(9):971-982.